NO

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

HAIRU CHEN, et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

FILED

FEB 2 4 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

L.A. TRUCK CENTERS, LLC,

Defendant, Respondent, and Petitioner.

Deputy

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

From the Opinion of the Court of Appeal of the State of California, Second Appellate District, Division Eight, Case No. B265304 on Appeal from The Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC469935 (Hon. J. Stephen Czuleger and Hon. Holly E. Kendig)

#### SHOOK, HARDY & BACON L.L.P.

Frank C. Rothrock (SBN: 54452; <a href="mailto:frothrock@shb.com">frothrock@shb.com</a>)

# ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Under the Court's decision in *Reich v. Purcell* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 551, 555, should the governmental interest analysis in determining choice of law in a personal injury or wrongful death case be based on the parties' relationships to the interested states on the date of the accident or injury? Similarly, should the interest analysis in a commercial case be tethered to the date of the underlying transaction?

Or, as held by the Court of Appeal, should later events such as the settlement and dismissal of one of multiple defendants be considered in the interest analysis? Put differently, should the choiceof-law determination be subject to reconsideration based on changes in the parties' status until trial commences or a verdict is entered?

# **INTRODUCTION: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED**

This Court's landmark decision in *Reich v. Purcell, supra*, 67 Cal.2d 551, adopted the governmental interest approach to choice of law. *Reich* arose from a fatal accident in Missouri. A car carrying Ohio residents traveling to California collided with a car driven by a Californian traveling to Illinois. Although the surviving plaintiffs later moved to California, the Court treated them as residents of Ohio in the choice-of-law analysis. The Court explained that "if the choice of law were made to turn on events happening after the accident, forum shopping would be encouraged." (*Id.* at p. 555.)

One of California's leading choice-of-law scholars interpreted *Reich* as holding that "the relevant time for assessing the potentially competing interests in a case involving a limitation of damages in wrongful death actions is the time of the accident." (Symposium, Comments on Reich v. Purcell (1968) 15 UCLA L.Rev. 551, 588 (hereafter UCLA Symposium) [comments by Professor Herma Hill Kay; citing Currie, Full Faith and Credit, Chiefly to Judgments: A Role for Congress (1964) Sup. Ct. Rev. 89, 92-99].) By anchoring the parties' relationships to the interested states and the interests of these states in application of their law to the date of the accident, the rule of Reich v. Purcell provides predictability to the choice-of-law analysis and reduces the risk of gamesmanship (e.g., forum shopping or sweetheart settlements with selected defendants). In Professor Kay's words, "[Chief Justice] Traynor's approach in Reich is to be preferred as the one carrying the least risk of unsettling expectations." (UCLA Symposium, supra, 15 UCLA L.Rev. at pp. 588-589.)

This case arises from a fatal rollover accident in Arizona involving a tour bus taking Chinese tourists from Las Vegas, Nevada to the Grand Canyon. The tour bus was designed and manufactured in Indiana by defendant Forest River, Inc. ("Forest River/Starcraft"), where it was purchased and taken delivery of by L.A. Truck Centers ("LAT/Buswest"), which later sold the bus to a California-based tour company. Eight months before the case was then set for trial, Forest River/Starcraft and LAT/Buswest brought a successful motion to have the trial court apply Indiana substantive law. The trial court denied the plaintiffs' motion to reconsider the choice-of-law ruling after Forest River/Starcraft settled before trial and the case was tried to a defense verdict for LAT/Buswest under Indiana products liability law.

The Court of Appeal reversed the judgment on the ground the trial court erred in denying plaintiffs' motion to reconsider its choice-of-law decision after Forest River/Starcraft settled. The Court of Appeal's decision rejects the rule of *Reich v. Purcell* that the parties' relationships to the potentially interested states – and the resulting interests of these states in application of their substantive law – should be determined as of the date of the accident. Instead, the Court of Appeal held the rule of *Reich v. Purcell* is limited to consideration only of the parties' residences: "the Supreme Court simply held that the historical facts of the parties' residences were fixed at the time of the accident; it did not hold that the relevant state interests were." (Opn. p. 14.)

This narrow reading of *Reich v. Purcell* ignores a crucial component of the interests calculus: the state interests at issue derive from the parties' relationships with the potentially interested states.

The two are interlinked. The Court of Appeal's decision creates unpredictability and opens the door to gamesmanship in determining choice of law. It sets up a potential settlement bidding war between plaintiffs and defendants from different states, with the odds usually stacked against California defendants in product liability cases. It creates an unwarranted element of fluidity in deciding choice of law. What if a non-resident defendant settles during trial, or at any time before a verdict is reached? When – if at any time before a final verdict – should a choice-of-law ruling become final?

This petition meets the criterion of California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1) because it presents an important question of law. It implicates application of California's governmental interest approach to choice of law in personal injury and wrongful death cases involving defendants from multiple states. Review is also necessary to secure uniformity of decision: Should the choice-of-law analysis be governed by a rule that looks to the date of the accident or underlying transaction in assessing the potentially competing interests in a case? Or is the rule of *Reich v. Purcell* simply limited – as interpreted by the Court of Appeal – to the parties' places of residence as distinct from the competing state interests?

# **BACKGROUND**

# A. The Fatal Accident

This is a personal injury and wrongful death case. On October 17, 2010, a tour bus taking Chinese tourists from Las Vegas to the Grand Canyon rolled over when its driver lost control as the bus entered a curve in the highway in Arizona. There was evidence the bus was traveling at an excessive speed. (9 RT 3699, 3707, 3720, 3727-3728.)<sup>1</sup> Two of the eleven passengers died in the accident and the others sustained various injuries. (O.Br. at 20.)

# B. The Manufacture and Sale of the Bus

The bus was manufactured by defendant Forest River/Starcraft at its plant in Goshen, Indiana. (1 AA 4:130; 7 RT 3062-3063.)

LAT/Buswest and Forest River/Starcraft had a Dealership Agreement entered into in 2004, which included a mutual express indemnity provision. (4 AA 25:987-991; 7 RT 3021-3023.)<sup>2</sup> LAT/Buswest, which is a California-based business, ordered the bus from Forest

<sup>&</sup>quot;RT" will refer to the Reporter's Transcript of the proceedings in the trial court, with references to the applicable volume. "O.Br." will refer to plaintiffs' Opening Brief to the Court of Appeal. "AA" will refer to plaintiffs' Appellants' Appendix, with references to the applicable volume, tab, and page. "RA" will refer to LAT/Buswest's Respondent's Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeal used the name "Starcraft" for Forest River, even though Starcraft is actually an internal division of Forest River. (O.Br. at 13; see also 7 RT 3004.) The Court of Appeal also referred to L.A. Truck Centers as "Buswest," although Buswest is only a fictitious business name used by LAT. (8 RT 3420.)

River/Starcraft in 2005 and took delivery of the bus at Forest River/Starcraft's Indiana location. (1 AA 4:130-133; 7 RT 3062-3064; 8 RT 3449-3450.)

LAT/Buswest sold the bus to defendant TBE International, Inc. ("TBE") in March 2008. (8 RT 3451.) Although LAT/Buswest and TBE had business locations in California, the tour bus was delivered to TBE at LAT/Buswest's dealership location in Las Vegas, Nevada, so that TBE could obtain apportioned license plates that would enable it to use the bus for interstate travel. (4 AA 24:924, 25:989; 8 RT 3453.) The bus passenger seats did not have seatbelts. But there was no dispute that the tour bus was not required by federal law or regulations to have passenger seatbelts. In addition to seats for the driver and tour guide at the front of the bus, there were 14 passenger seats. (7 RT 3045; 8 RT 3447; 10 RT 3960.) Plaintiffs include the injured passengers and survivors of the passengers who died in the accident. (AA 1:2-3.)

# C. The Pleadings and Parties

Plaintiffs initially sued TBE, the bus driver (Zhi Lu, a TBE employee), Forest River/Starcraft, and LAT/Buswest through a complaint filed September 20, 2011. (1 AA 1-2.) The case eventually proceeded under a Second Amended Complaint against TBE, Mr. Lu, Forest River/Starcraft, and LAT/Buswest under causes of action for negligence, strict products liability, and negligent infliction of emotional distress. (AA 1:1-16.)

In December 2012, TBE and Mr. Lu settled with plaintiffs.

# D. The Trial Court's Choice-of-Law Ruling

On December 17, 2013, LAT/Buswest and Forest River/Starcraft filed a joint motion requesting the trial court determine that Indiana law should apply in this case. (1 AA 2:18.) At that time, the case was set for trial on August 18, 2014. (1 AA 7:268; 2 AA 11:466, 12:495.) The trial court granted the motion and ruled that Indiana substantive law should apply. (2 AA 10:448-465.)

In August 2014, the Indiana-resident manufacturer, Forest River/Starcraft, settled and it was dismissed from the case the following month. (RA 3:26, 5:81.) Plaintiffs then requested the trial court reconsider its choice-of-law ruling and apply California substantive law in the case going forward. Plaintiffs argued Forest River/Starcraft's dismissal meant Indiana no longer had any connection with or interest in the case. (RA 4:62.) The trial court declined to reconsider its choice-of-law ruling. But plaintiffs renewed their request for application of California law in a motion in limine filed before trial. (3 AA 21:606.) They again argued any Indiana interest in applying its law vanished with Forest River/Starcraft's settlement. (3AA 21:626.)

In each of their motions seeking reconsideration, plaintiffs argued that Indiana and California law are "reasonably identical" because Indiana's "unreasonably dangerous" test for design defect is essentially the same as California's consumer-expectations test and that any potential conflict between Indiana and California law is false.

(RA 4:62, 68; 3 AA 21:618-619.) The trial court heard argument on plaintiffs' choice-of-law motion in limine on February 20, 2015, and denied the motion. (2 RT 602-604, 614.)

The case proceeded to trial with LAT/Buswest as the sole remaining defendant. The trial court applied Indiana's "unreasonably dangerous" test for a product design defect in instructing the jury. (12 RT 5195.) On April 27, 2015, the jury returned a defense verdict in favor of LAT. (12 RT 5403-5405.) Judgment was entered on May 11, 2015 (4 AA 26:996-997), and plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on July 7, 2015. (4 AA 28:1005.)

# E. The Court of Appeal's Decision

The Court of Appeal filed its decision on January 18, 2017. A copy is attached to this Petition as Exhibit A. The decision reversed the judgment in favor of LAT/Buswest and remanded the case for a new trial "governed by California products liability law." (Opn. p. 24.)

The Court of Appeal's decision is anchored in two conclusions: (1) the trial court should have fully reconsidered its choice-of-law determination after Forest River/Starcraft's settlement (Opn. p. 10) and (2) once Forest River/Starcraft settled and was dismissed, Indiana no longer had any interest in application of its law (Opn. pp. 14, 20). These conclusions assume the choice-of-law issue is fluid and subject to change as a case proceeds to trial, and apparently even until there is a verdict. The Court of Appeal's decision rests on the assumption the competing states' interests change – potentially back-and-forth – as

parties are added or removed from a case through amendment, settlement, or dismissal.

The Court of Appeal rejected LAT's position that the parties' relationships with the potentially interested states, and those states' interests in application of their law, should be tethered to the date of the accident in order to promote predictability and reduce the opportunities for gamesmanship in determining choice of law. In the words of the Court of Appeal, "Buswest greatly overstates the effect of *Reich*. The Supreme Court simply held that the historical facts of the parties' residences were fixed at the time of the accident; it did not hold that the relevant state interests were." (Opn. p. 14.) The Court of Appeal reasoned that the "relevant interests cannot be accurately determined until the defendants, and the theories of liability alleged against them, are known – things that are only known for certain as the case gets closer to trial." (*Ibid*.)

The Court of Appeal also rejected the possibility that reconsideration of a choice-of-law decision based on settlement and dismissals of defendants from different states as a case progresses to trial may undermine predictability in the choice-of-law process and open the door to gamesmanship. "[T]he risk of gamesmanship only arose in this case because Buswest and Starcraft chose to seek a preliminary in limine ruling on choice of law 15 months before trial. Any prejudice arising from the parties' reliance on this ruling was due to their misunderstanding of the nature of a pretrial choice of law ruling, not from plaintiffs' proper attempt to re-determine the applicable law at the time of trial." (Opn. p. 15.) But the Court of Appeal overlooked the fact that, when Forest River/Starcraft and

LAT/Buswest brought their choice-of-law motion, trial was set only eight months away (1 AA 7:268; 2 AA 11:466, 12:495) and a choice-of-law ruling was necessary to preparation of summary judgment and other motions predicated on the applicable substantive law.<sup>3</sup> It was also necessary for the parties to identify the applicable substantive law (e.g., the standard for a design defect) to develop expert testimony.

Underlying the Court of Appeal's decision is the premise that choice of law should be treated as a motion in limine to be resolved close to trial and that it should be subject to reconsideration as parties are added or dropped from a case. The Court of Appeal cited State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co. v. Superior Court (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 490, for the rule a motion seeking a choice-of-law determination should be treated as a motion in limine. (Opn. p. 13.) But State Farm recognized a ruling on choice of law needs to be made before adjudication of any causes of action. (State Farm, supra, 121 Cal.App.4th at p. 502 [citing First State Ins. Co. v. Superior Court (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 324, 327, for the proposition that choice of law must be determined before a court is able to rule on any dispositive motions (e.g., summary judgment)].)

The Court of Appeal's premise that the trial court's choice-of-law ruling was premature is countered by the record. Not only was a determination of applicable law necessary to permit a timely summary judgment motion and to identify the scope of expert testimony with trial then only eight months away, but the case was ripe for a choice-of-law determination. There were no missing persons in this case

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> LAT/Buswest filed an unsuccessful motion for summary judgment within a month after the trial court's choice-of-law order. (2 AA 11:466; O.Br. at 28.)

when the choice-of-law motion was brought and decided. The two-year California statute of limitations (Code Civ. Proc., § 335.1) had expired and plaintiffs made no claim of prematurity or the possibility that additional defendants might be later found and added to the case.

The Court of Appeal also denied the possibility that Indiana's interest in application of its law extended to LAT/Buswest as a non-resident business engaged in economic activity in Indiana. (Opn. p. 19.) This rejection overlooked the fact that LAT/Buswest's Dealership Agreement with Forest River/Starcraft required it to sell at least 72 buses per year purchased from the Indiana-based manufacturer. (Opn. p. 3.) The Court of Appeal further rejected LAT/Buswest's argument that, based on an express indemnity provision in the Dealership Agreement between LAT/Buswest and Forest River/Starcraft, Indiana retained an interest in application of its law because of the potential indemnity-based liability of Forest River/Starcraft if a substantial verdict was returned against LAT/Buswest. (Opn. p. 19 ["No state's interest can reach that far."].)

Finally, the Court of Appeal disagreed with LAT/Buswest's position that any error in instructing the jury under Indiana law was not prejudicial because (1) evidence of industry custom and government standards admitted at trial would also have likely been admissible under California's risk-benefits test if plaintiffs had actually sought to have the case proceed under that test and (2) given plaintiffs' repeated arguments that Indiana law is reasonably identical to California's consumer-expectation test for design defect liability, plaintiffs had waived any argument that California's risk-benefits test

should apply. (Opn. pp. 23-24.)4

The Court of Appeal's decision reversed the judgment in favor of LAT/Buswest and ordered this case remanded for a new trial "governed by California products liability law." (Opn. p. 24.)

LAT/Buswest filed a Petition for Rehearing with the Court of Appeal, which was denied on February 8, 2017.

# **LEGAL DISCUSSION**

# I. THE COURT OF APPEAL MISINTERPRETED AND FAILED TO FOLLOW REICH V. PURCELL.

This Court adopted the governmental interest approach to resolving choice-of-law issues in *Reich v. Purcell, supra*, 67 Cal.2d 551. (*Kearney v. Salomon Smith Barney, Inc.* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 95, 107 [referring to "Chief Justice Traynor's seminal decision for this Court in *Reich v. Purcell*"].) The governmental interest methodology for choice-of-law analysis originated in the writings of Professor Brainerd Currie. (*Bernhard v. Harrah's Club* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 313, 319 [Professor Currie was the "father of the governmental interest approach"].) Chief Justice Traynor's decision in *Reich v. Purcell* cited liberally to Professor Currie and Professor David Cavers. (*Reich v. Purcell, supra*, 67 Cal.2d at pp. 554-556.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeal observed: "At one point in their conflicts briefing, plaintiffs mistakenly argued that Indiana law and California law were not in conflict, in that they both used the 'consumer expectations' test to define a defective product." (Opn. p. 23, fn. 9.) In fact, plaintiffs asserted this position multiple times to the trial court. (RA 4:62, 68; 3 AA 21:618-619.)

Reich v. Purcell arose from a fatal automobile accident in Missouri when a car owned and operated by a California resident collided with another car driven by an Ohio resident who was traveling to California with her two children. The Ohio driver and one of her children were killed. The father and surviving child moved to California and brought a wrongful death action against the California-resident defendant. (Id. at p. 552.) This raised the issue of whether the plaintiffs should be treated as residents of California for purposes of assessing California's interest in application of its law. The Court determined they should be treated as residents of Ohio. It held the parties' residences at the time of the accident should be controlling. Otherwise, "if the choice of law were made to turn on events happening after the accident, forum shopping would be encouraged." (Id. at pp. 555-556 [citing Cavers, The Choice of Law Process (1965) p. 151, fn. 16]; see also *Kearney*, supra, 39 Cal.4th at p. 108 [the court in Reich "concluded that California had no interest in applying its law, because the plaintiffs had not been California residents at the time of the accident . . . "].)

The Court of Appeal's decision gives a narrow reading to Reich. According to the Court of Appeal, Reich holds only that the residences of the parties should be determined as of the date of the accident: Reich "simply held that the historical facts of the parties' residences were fixed at the time of the accident; it did not hold that the relevant state interests were." (Opn. p. 14.)

The Court of Appeal's interpretation of *Reich* is at odds with the view of one of California's leading choice-of-law scholars, Professor Herma Kay of Boalt Hall. In analyzing *Reich v. Purcell*, Professor Kay explained: "[Chief Justice] Traynor holds that the relevant time for assessing the potentially competing *interests* in a case involving the limitation of damages in wrongful death actions is the time of the accident." (*UCLA Symposium, supra*, 15 UCLA L.Rev. at p. 588, italics added.)

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