## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

### SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR **0 2** 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

HAIRU CHEN, et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

vs.

#### L.A. TRUCK CENTERS, LLC,

Defendant and Respondent.

FROM A DECISION OF THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DIVISION, DIVISION EIGHT, NO. B265304, LOS ANGELES COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT NO. BC469935 (HON. J. STEPHEN CZULEGER AND HON. HOLLY E. KENDIG)

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Martin N. Buchanan (SBN 124193) Law Offices of Martin N. Buchanan 655 W. Broadway, Suite 1700 San Diego, CA 92101 Telephone: (619) 238-2426

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Court of Appeal's Decision Does Not Conflict With the Holding of *Reich v. Purcell* and is Consistent With Existing California Authorities

BusWest's primary claim is that the Court of Appeal's decision supposedly conflicts with the holding of *Reich v. Purcell, supra, 67* Cal.2d 551. According to BusWest, *Reich v. Purcell* held that "the parties' relationships with the interested states in a wrongful death action should be determined *as of the date of the accident.*" (Pet. for Review, at pp. 18-19, emphasis added.)

The Court of Appeal correctly rejected this argument for several reasons. First, "BusWest greatly overstates the effect of *Reich*." (Ex. A to Pet. for Review, at p. 14.) In *Reich*, a car accident occurred in Missouri between the plaintiffs, who resided in Ohio, and the defendant, who resided in California. After the accident, the plaintiffs moved to California. In applying the governmental-

interests test, this Court merely held that "plaintiffs' present domicile in California does not give this state any interest in applying its law." (*Reich, supra,* 67 Cal.2d at p. 555.)

As the Court of Appeal observed: "The Supreme Court [in Reich] simply held that the historical facts of the parties' residences were fixed at the time of the accident; it did not hold that the relevant state interests were." (Ex. A to Pet. for Review, at p. 14.)

Reich did not involve a situation anything like this one, where one state's alleged interest in having its laws applied to protect a resident product manufacturer was no longer implicated after that particular defendant settled before trial.

A Supreme Court decision is only authority "for the points actually involved and actually decided." (Trope v. Katz (1995) 11 Cal.4th 274, 284, quoting Childers v. Childers (1946) 74 Cal.App.2d 56, 61.) "[A] case is not authority for a point that was not actually decided by the court." (Consumer Lobby Against Monopolies v. Public Utilities Com. (1992) 25 Cal.3d 891, 902.) Moreover, "the language of an opinion must be construed with reference to the facts presented by the case, and the positive authority of a decision is coextensive only with such facts." (Trope, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 284, citations & internal quotation marks omitted.) Thus, the Court of Appeal properly concluded that the holding of Reich v. Purcell does not control the vastly different issue presented in this case.

Second, BusWest does not explain how a rule that "the parties'

relationships with the interested states" must be "determined as of the date of the accident" would work in actual practice. (Pet. for Review, at pp. 18-19.) As of the date of an accident, it is unknown who "the parties" to the litigation will be—or whether litigation will even ensue. As the Court of Appeal explained, "the relevant state interests could not possibly be determined until it was known what parties would be sued." (Ex. A to Pet. for Review, at p. 14.)

The Court of Appeal gave the following hypothetical to illustrate this point: "Suppose, for example, that the plaintiffs in this case believed the bus was not defective at all, and had sued only [the bus driver] for his negligent driving. In such a case, Indiana would have no interest at all, and the dispute would be between the application of California negligence law and Arizona negligence law. The relevant interests cannot be accurately determined until the defendants, and the theories alleged against them, are known – things that are only known for certain as the case gets closer to trial." (Ex. A to Pet. for Review, at p. 14.) BusWest offers no meaningful response to this point in its Petition for Review.

A trial court simply cannot assess the respective interests of the states in having their laws applied without first determining which parties are involved in the litigation, where they reside and/or do business, and what issues are being raised in the lawsuit. And if the parties to the litigation change over time, this necessarily alters any judicial calculation of "the parties' relationships with the interested states ... as of the date of the accident." (Pet. for Review, at pp. 18-19, emphasis added.) In this case, the only remaining *parties* to the case at the time of trial were plaintiffs and BusWest, a California bus dealership that made the fateful decision to import the bus into California without ordering available passenger seatbelts and later sold the bus to a California bus touring company. BusWest offers no real explanation why Indiana's alleged interest in protecting the Indiana manufacturer would still be relevant even after the Indiana manufacturer had settled out of the case and was no longer a party to the case or a participant in the trial.<sup>1</sup>

Finally, the Court of Appeal's decision is consistent with the other California authorities it cited. As the Court of Appeal noted, "[a] motion to determine the law to be applied in a case is 'the equivalent of an in limine motion that seeks to resolve a conflict of laws or choice of law issue.'" (Ex. A to Pet. for Review, at p. 13,

BusWest obliquely suggests that Indiana still retained an interest because of an express indemnity agreement in the Dealership Agreement between it and the Indiana manufacturer. (Pet. for Review, at p. 15.) But the Court of Appeal rejected this argument, and BusWest does not make any effort to demonstrate why its reasoning was wrong. (Ex. A to Pet. for Review, at p. 19.) Moreover, BusWest fails to mention that under the indemnity provision, *BusWest* agreed "[t]o indemnify, save and hold [the manufacturer] harmless from any liability whatsoever caused by any act or acts of [BusWest] and its agents, servants or employees." (4 AA 988.) BusWest's decision not to order passenger seatbelts offered by the manufacturer was an act of BusWest and its agents, servants or employees, not an act of the manufacturer.

quoting State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co. v. Superior Court (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 490, 502.) "In limine rulings are not binding; they are subject to reconsideration upon full information at trial." (*Ibid.*, citing Cristler v. Express Messenger Systems, Inc. (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 72, 90, fn. 6.) "[T]he original motion brought by Bus West and Starcraft was simply an in limine motion, filed a year before trial, which could obtain nothing more than a non-binding ruling subject to reconsideration when the facts were fully devloped at trial." (*Ibid.*, citing Kasel v. Remington Arms Co. (1972) 24 Cal.App.3d 711, 721, 732 [trial was bifurcated with choice of law litigated first; unsuccessful party could have sought reconsideration if stronger evidence had been introduced in the second phase].)

In sum, the Court of Appeal's decision does not conflict with *Reich v. Purcell* and is consistent with the other California authorities cited in its opinion. BusWest cites no decision from California or any other jurisdiction that conflicts with the Court of Appeal's ruling on this issue. Indeed, BusWest cites no other case from *any* jurisdiction in which this particular issue has even come up before. Because there is no conflict in the lower courts on the issue, and it comes up so rarely that neither party has discovered any other case in which it has ever been decided, review should be denied.

///

111

# II. The Court of Appeal Correctly Rejected BusWest'sClaims of Gamesmanship

BusWest asserts that the Court of Appeal's decision will lead to gamesmanship and unpredictability. Without explanation, BusWest claims that the ruling "sets up the potential for a settlement bidding war with the odds usually favoring the non-California defendants." (Pet. for Review, at p. 23.) But the Court of Appeal correctly responded to this argument as follows: "We think it unlikely that parties would settle, or hold up a potential settlement, based on the effects a settlement may have on the law to be applied when the remaining parties proceed to trial." (Ex. A to Pet. for Review, at p. 15.) The many variables that go into a settlement agreement are unlikely to be skewed by the mere possibility that a settlement with one defendant might affect a choice-of-law ruling as to others. BusWest's purely speculative claim to the contrary is not a basis for Supreme Court review.

Moreover, BusWest's proposed rule could itself result in gamesmanship or manipulation. Under its rule, a pretrial choice-of-law ruling would be binding and could not be altered by a change in the parties to the litigation. If that were the case, however, the plaintiffs here could have named only BusWest as a defendant in the initial complaint, obtained a ruling that California law applies, then amended their complaint to add the Indiana manufacturer as a defendant, without any risk that the court would then revisit its

choice-of-law ruling based on the changed circumstances. Thus, BusWest's rigid rule would likely result in the very type of manipulation that BusWest decries in its petition.

BusWest also asserts that a choice-of-law ruling must be made before dispositive motions, and that its choice-of-law motion was not premature because it moved for summary judgment promptly after the initial ruling that Indiana law applied. But the Court of Appeal did not hold that the initial choice-of-law motion was improper or premature; it only ruled that the decision was not *binding* at trial. All the Court of Appeal's decision says is that such a pretrial choice-of-law decision is "a non-binding ruling subject to reconsideration when the facts [are] fully developed at trial." (Ex. A to Pet. for Review, at p. 13.) Thus, the decision below will not prevent parties in future cases from obtaining a choice-of-law ruling before or in connection with dispositive motions.

In sum, there is nothing earth-shattering about the Court of Appeal's ruling. The sky will not fall just because pretrial rulings on choice-of-law issues may be revisited after the parties to the litigation change or the facts are more fully developed at trial. This is consistent with the other California authorities cited in the Court of Appeal's decision. (See also *Le Francois v. Goel* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1094 [trial court has inherent authority to reconsider interim rulings].) The contrary rule advocated by BusWest is not supported by any authority, and is both illogical and unnecessarily rigid. A

choice-of-law ruling should not be treated as if it were written in stone when the entire rationale for the ruling has been undermined by the subsequent additional or removal of a party before trial.

Once the Indiana manufacturer settled out of the case, Indiana no longer had an arguable interest in applying its own laws to protect the manufacturer against excessive financial burdens. This is the only interest the trial court ever found Indiana to have. Thus, the settlement with the Indiana defendant removed Indiana's only conceivable interest in the case.

# III. This Case is Not the Proper Vehicle for Deciding the Issue, Because the Trial Court's Initial Choice-of-Law Ruling Was Wrong Anyway

BusWest's Petition for Review presupposes that the trial court's initial choice of Indiana law was both correct and binding at trial. But, as plaintiffs argued in the Court of Appeal, the initial choice-of-law ruling was wrong for two reasons. (AOB 40-51.) First, as the Court of Appeal has now ruled, the trial court erred in ruling that California had *no* interest in applying its laws. BusWest no longer disputes this point. Second, because even the Indiana courts would not apply the substantive law of Indiana to an accident that occurred outside its borders, Indiana never had any genuine interest in having its own law applied by a California court—even when the Indiana defendants were still in the case. Thus, California law should have been applied all along.

## A. The Trial Court Erred in Ruling that California Had No Interest in Applying Its Laws

Both the original motions judge and the trial judge ruled that California literally had *no* interest in applying California law to this case. In her oral and written rulings on the original choice-of-law motion, Judge Holly Kendig explicitly found "that no 'true conflict' exists because California has *no* interest in applying California law to this case." (2 AA 448; 2 RT 2, emphasis added.) The trial judge, Judge J. Stephen Czuleger, correctly observed that "Judge Kendig ... found that California has *no* interest in the outcome of this action." (2 RT 603, emphasis added.)

Judge Czuleger also agreed with Judge Kendig that "California has *no interest* because neither the alleged ... failures of the bus nor the accident or injuries occurred in California." (2 RT 603, emphasis added.) Judge Czuleger stated that plaintiffs had "failed to explain how California has an actual interest in applying its product defects law given the specific facts of this case." (2 RT 604.) And Judge Czuleger concluded that "no specific wrongful conduct is alleged to have occurred in California, giving rise to a California interest." (2 RT 604.) Thus, Judge Kendig and Judge Czuleger both unequivocally ruled that California had no interest in applying its own laws.

The Court of Appeal has now concluded that this was legally incorrect. (Ex. A to Pet. for Review, at pp. 17-18.) After a lengthy

discussion of California's interests, the Court of Appeal found that "California's interest in imposing its rules of strict products liability in this case ... is strong." (*Id.* at p. 18.) BusWest does not challenge this portion of the decision in its Petition for Review. Thus, BusWest has effectively conceded that the trial court got California's interests wrong in its initial choice-of-law ruling.

## B. Indiana *Never* Had Any Genuine Interest in Having Its Laws Applied

#### 1. Indiana Is a Lex Loci Delicti Jurisdiction

The trial court also got Indiana's interests wrong. In fact, Indiana never had any interest in having its laws applied, even when the Indiana manufacturer was still in the case. Unlike California, Indiana is a traditional *lex loci delicti* jurisdiction—it has a strong presumption in favor of applying the substantive law of the state where the harm occurred. Only in extremely rare cases would Indiana courts apply Indiana law to a case where a defective product caused death or injury in another state. This is not such a case. Thus, even the Indiana courts would not apply Indiana law to this case.

"In tort cases, where a conflict exists, Indiana presumes that the traditional rule-*lex loci delicti*-governs. [Citation.] Under the rule, the district court applies the substantive law of 'the state where the last event necessary to make an actor liable for the alleged wrong takes place." (*Klein v. DePuy, Inc.* (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007) 506 F.3d 553, 555, quoting *Hubbard Mfg. Co. v. Greeson* (Ind. 1987) 515 N.E.2d 1071, 1073.) This is almost invariably the place where the harm occurred. (*Alli v. Eli Lilly and Co.* (Ind. Ct. App. 2006) 854 N.E.2d 372, 378-379, citing cases.) "Indiana is a *lex loci delicti* state: in all but exceptional cases it applies the law of the place *where harm occurred.*" (*In re Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc.* (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002) 288 F.3d 1012, 1016, emphasis added.) "Only in 'rare cases' will the presumption in favor of the traditional rule be overcome." (*Klein, supra,* 506 F.3d at p. 556, quoting *Simon v. United States* (Ind. 2004) 805 N.E.2d 798, 806.)

Specifically, in products liability cases, Indiana's strong presumption is to apply the substantive law of the state where the product caused harm, rather than the state where the product was designed or manufactured. (See, e.g., *Klein*, 506 F.3d at 555-56 [Indiana *lex loci delicti* rule required application of substantive law of North Carolina, where patient received allegedly defective hip prosthesis, rather than Indiana, where product was manufactured, marketed, and distributed]; *In re Bridgestone/Firestone*, *supra*, 288 F.3d at 1015-1016 [Indiana *lex loci delicti* rule required application of substantive law of states where defective tires caused harm, rather than law of Indiana, where defendants were headquartered and tires were designed]; *Alli*, *supra*, 854 N.E.2d at pp. 378-379 [Indiana *lex loci delicti* rule required application of substantive law of Michigan, where patient committed suicide after taking Prozac, rather than Indiana, where drug manufacturer was headquartered].)

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